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Janusz Korczak (Janucz Korczak), last director of the orphanage in Warsaw, is recognized worldwide.  Dr. Isaak Hallemann, the last director of the Fuerth Jewish orphanage known only to a scarce few. Although he too had the option to save himself, he willingly chose  to die with the orphans under his responsibility. Janusz Korczak was born in 1878  as  Henryk Goldszmit, to a secular Jewish family in Warsaw. In 1904 he graduated medicine school, as a doctor specializing in children illness. While studying, he pblished with great success children's books published pedagogical articles, under the pseudonym Janusz Korczak.
At that time he decided not to pursue a private career. Instaed he chose to work with children in difficult social situations. In 1911 he was appointed director of the new orphanage in Warsaw, where he fulfilled his ideas of special rights to lonely children , whom his love to, inspired his  research.
In October 1940, when the Nazis forced the orphanage to transfer to the ghetto, he was given an opportunity to leave Poland, but he refused, because he cosidered it  betraying the children. Almost 2 years later, on  August 5th  1942, when 200 children were transported to Treblinka, he insisted on going with them, even though he knew that meant certain death.
Since 1978 Janucz Korczak is commemorated at Yad Vashem by a statue depicting him with the children. His memory was honored by an Israeli stamp featuring his photograph, and in 1972 he received the peace prize of the council of German book association.
In contrast, Dr. Hallemann's activities are barely known, and even in Yad Vashem he is mentioned just like any other SHOAH victim, with no special mentioning. 
The Jewish orphanage in general, and Dr. Hallemann in particular, were part of the unique history of Jewish life Fuerth, beginning in 1528. The fact that Fuerth was under the rule of a "triple regime" at the time, allowed good conditions for minorities, and at very early periods, many Jewish institutions existed, that were, in a time such institutions were not possible elsewhere. The Jewish orphanage of Fuerth was one of these institutions.

Beginnings 

In 1763, Israel Lichtenstaedter from Prague, published his plan to establish "a Jewish orphanage" for Jewish orphans, which will include educators for the orphans. In this message was warned that many orphaned boys live without Jewish education and without any economic base. Therefore, these children must be provided with food, lodging and clothing, and most importantly, given a suitable education in the  Jewish religion and reading  and writing Hebrew, so they can learn to write good Hebrew, in a way than can combine their general secular knowledge with their religious  knowledge. Since these goals require an organized institution, a large and permanent fund must be created, hence we ask your support for the children wondering the streets.
Te announcement was signed by Israel Lichtenstädter, Baruch Bendit Schulhof,Nathan Dinkelspuehler, Seligman kitzinger, Elias cleve and Elias son of Rabbi Benjamin Levi from Prague.
The announcement for the establishment of the Jewish Orphanage (1763) states: at the connection corner of two streets  between the share of Leib-Wolf and Moshe Yosef Mayer, a public tax exempted institution is to be established to service the Jewish orphanage.
Many donnors from Fuerth and from elsewhere, responded to that announcement. Israel Lichtenstädter himself donated 500 guilders, as a basis for a fund, for purchasing land in geleitsgasse 1 for the building. Construction immediately began. 
Homeowners were in 1723 - Paruch, Nathan and Seligmann Dettelbacher
1763 Israel Lichtenstädter
1764-1870 - Jewish community of Fuerth.
It was the first Jewish orphanage in Germany, and remained the only one Bavaria. Until then, the only a Jewish orphanages were in Prague and Amsterdam. 
Every Jew could participate in the fund, by committing himself to annual payments of a sum he himself has set, as long as he lives. Minimum membership payments were  2 guilders and 30 Ckerweicar annually,  payable in monthly installments. After three years of payment,  Each member earned the right that after his death, one of his sons to be admitted to the orphanage free of charge, and that kadish will be said after him every year.

The first regulations of the "holy association of the Fuirth Jewish orphanage" , published in 1768 by Itzik of Leib  Buchbinder, from 9 Alexander street , stated that those eligible to be taken into the orphanage would be  local poor 5-13 year old boys,  born to legally married  Jews. They would be entitled to medical care, food, housing, clothing and Orthodox education, allowing them to grow into respectable members of society.
The regulations set rules for the boys' proper conduct;
1. They are to obey instructions given by orphanage management.
2. Promptly comply with provisions of directors, teachers and supervisors; To attend school regularly and pass the exams successfully.
3. Attend synagogue regularly.
4. To pray for the recovery of founders that fell ill during their illness, and to say the Kaddish and learn Mishnayot for their souls after their death. Kaddish is a prayer of praise to God, said by sons to comemorate their father's soul.

Refusal  to follow instructions would involve penalties, and in the most extreme cases they were expelled from the orphanage.
The regulations state that Israel Lichtenstädter is appointed Director (Gabai) for life, and was entitled to an honorary seat beside the ARON KODESH , ingratitude of his special rights.
There also was a mutual agreement between most of the donors who had no children and the orphans, which  gave the orphans a feeling that they were not recipients of charity but are partners. In order to support a child in the orphanage, whom his father was not one of the contributors, a donation that would yield at least 225 guilders annually was required.
In 1818, additional sections were added to the regulations. For instance,  paragraph # 22 allowed talented  orphans to remain in the institution until  the age of 15, instead of 13 as it was before. paragraph #40 states that at the funeral of one of the contributors, the orphans will walk before the caufen, with accordance to the belief that at the time of death, a man should be accompanied only by his good deeds and his knowledge of TORAH, in order to remind the good deeds of the donor. This custom was based on the psalms verse: " Righteousness goes before him, And prepares the way for his steps " ( Psalms 84 14).
The funds of the Foundation were administered by the nine directors, they were responsible for 
1. when cash was needed the safe could opened in the presence of two members. In addition it was determined, that when the cash balance was above two hundred guilders, it  should be invested conservatively. Earnings were calculated each year. 
2. Educating the orphans, and if it was necessary to punish an orphan "punk", it was absolutely forbidden to use physical punishment. 
3. Accept an orphan to the orphanage, and examine his ability to study. 
4.  Appointing teachers and aides, Gabai for the synagogue, Cantor, shamas and a social worker. 

Also, members were responsible for: 
1. The purchase and repair clothing - every orphanreceived upon addmission underwear, shoes and a gray uniform. When he reached the age of 13, His Bar Mitzva, he would also get a pair of Tefillin.
2. Needed renovations, supervision of tidiness, food supply, and promoting the child's education. 

Education in the orphanage included:
1.  Jewish religion studies, reading and writing Hebrew, biblical history, translation and explanations of the prayers, five Books of Moses, Ethics, Proverbs, the first prophets, and geography of the land of Israel.
2. Compulsory subjects in German schools, such as writing and reading German grammar, arithmetic, geography, nature, German history and history of the world.

Children aged 5-7 attended 28 hours a week, and 7-13 year olds learned 38 hours. The level of education was under the supervision of the Ministry of Education, and the  religious studies were supervised by the Rabbi.
In March 1836, paragraph 14 of the regulations state: "With compliance to the request of the founders of the Jewish orphanage, the members of the executive council of the institute, and especially the administration and supervisors of the orphanage's funds and income are responsible  to prevent any conflict of interest. The physical, spiritual, and intellectual education of the orphanage must be supervised by a special committee (- education Committee) permanently under the supervision of the state, and its members will always be residence of Fuerth. "
Signed: Wolf Lieberviel 
Seligmann Dinkelspühler
Emanuel Ichenhaeuser
Isaak Hes
Jacob Loeb Brandeis
Hayim Friesenhausen
Moses Osterberg
Israel Lichtenstaedter donated two artistic chandeliers to the Talmud Torah named after him. The two chandeliers were transferred in 1763 to the synagogue in the new building of the orphanage, hanging there until today. The dedication reads: "Contributed by Mr. Israel Lichtenstaedter from Prague and his modest wife Mrs. Gitel -may she live long-, and the honorary Mr. Liebarmann Schaz (Shatz is the short form of the Hebrew word for cantor)". On the back side of chandelier is engraved " For the commandment is a lamp; and the law is light" (Proverbs 6 24).One of the chandeliers is in the  form of a Torah scroll, and over some of the letters there are dots. The numerical value of  these letters sums 511 (which was the Jewish year) – the year 1751 in the Gregorian calendar. His name also appears on  two smaller lamps installed in the corners of the BIMA.
Like many others, Israel Lichtenstaedter also donated to the permanent capital the sum of 300 guilders, for the reciting of Psalms on the memorial date of his death by ten Torah learners. Each of them received  1.12 guilders annually, from the profits on this  contribution. In addition he set up another  fund of 150 Guilder .The interest on this fund covered the costs  of daily lighting of the synagogue. Israel Lichtenstaedter died on 03/23/1771.
After leaving the orphanage, each orphan chose his way according to his personal capabilities. So there were business people, professionals, teachers or students in the Fuerth Yeshiva. 
The following list contains the names and professions  of 22 orphans, who were still living in the orphanage in 1830: 
Abraham Loeb Auerbacher - a teacher for writing and speach. 

Sussel A. Ellern – Business man
Moses A. Ellern – Business man
Emanuel Besold – Business man
Nathan Ottensooser – Business man
Juda Goldhorn – Business man
Joel Zirndorfer – Business man
Moses Birnbaum – Business man 
Jakob Seligmann Wassertrüdinger - Carpenter. 
Issac Aubinger – writing teacher
Marx Oppenheimar - Baker. 
Hayim Liederbaum- Weaver. 
Joseph Basinger - Tailor. 
Emanuel Roller - Painter. 
Joel Mandelbaum - Trade apprentice. 
Koppel - Teacher at Walerstein 

Boys orphanage in Bavaria 

The first "Father of orphans" (at that time there was no organized orphanage yet) known by name, was Simon Bamberger.  He was born in 1805, in Weilersbach near Ebermannstadt, and learned in the high yeshiva in Fuerth from 1818 until 1823. At the time he offered his candidacy for "father of the orphans" he was teaching at the Jewish-German school in Buechenbach, not far from his home. He began his job in July 1838 and received an annual salary of 400 guilders and an apartment free of charge at the orphanage for him, his wife Clara and their six children. The community's chairman initially opposed granting him a Fuerth residence permit, fearing it would cause additional expenses to the community social services. But after Simon Bamberger proved to be an equity and capital owner and , together with the fact that he had for his wife an insurance policy to support her if she was widowed, caused the chairman to cancel his opposition. 
The number of orphans in the orphanage declined without obvious reasons, until in 1844 there were only three orphans in the orphanage. Perhaps this is why the management agreed to approve the request of the sons of Wolf Schweizer, a painter on porcelain, who died in great poverty in Nuernberg, to accept them to the orphanage even though they were not born in Fuerth, contrary to the regulations in paragraph 53 which explicitly allows only Fuerth born children to be accepted.
Nevertheless, In 1866 there were only seven boys in the orphanage. This number too low to achieve the purpose  the foundershad in mind when they established the institution. Especially, it was not possible to hold the memory prayers for souls of the founders on their memorial day, so it was  decided 1868 to admit  orphans from other communities in Bavaria (Bayern) .
When Mr. Bamberger retired, on 1.8.1866, he suggested Dr. Moshe Jona Königshöfer as his successor. Mr. Bamberger died in Fuerth on 2.4.1885. 

Dr. Moshe Jona Königshöfer was born in 1840 in Welbhausen, near Uffenheim. He was the son of a teacher. In addition to studies at the Fuerth Yeshiva, he also graduated the universities of Munich and Tübingen with a Ph.D degree. He continued his studies by the "Ktav Sofer" in  Pressburg  and by the rabbi of Wuerzburger, Rabbiner Seligmann Bamberger . After graduating, he was appointed rabbi of the Hagenbach County in Franconian Switzerland.
Dr. Moshe Jona Koenigshoefer was appointed on 1.8.1866 director of the Fuerth orphanage. His annual salary was 700 guilders, a sum much higher than the salary of his predecessor. The contract with him and his wife Rebecca described in nine paragraphs his rights and obligations as a teacher, educator and social worker. It was signed by Dr. Moshe Jona Koenigshoefer and his wife on the one hand, and by the community managers on the other hand: Simon Ichenhaeuser, Salomon Elieser, Isaac David Heumann, Menki Zimmer, Hirsch Gusstein, Lazarus Offenbacher, Ehrlich Feist.
In addition to his duties at the orphanage, Dr. Koenigshoefer taught in the Orthodox elementary school founded in 1863, oversaw the ritual slaughterer, ritual baths and "Eruv", and served as the rabbi of the Fuerth Orthodox community.
In September 1866, just one month after he began his work, land was purchased for the building of the new building of the orphanage on Julienstrasse. Friedrich Friedreich, the construction consultant to Fuerth municipality, was in charge of the design and construction of the building.
The Jewish newspaper 'Allgemeine Zeitung des Judentums" writes on the dedication day of the building, on 11.9.1868: The design of the modern orphanage here in Fuerth, is another example of the glorious buildings erected by the Jewish community of Fuerth. It will be, without doubt, a dignified addition to our city, especially when considering that the previous building that served as the orphanage has quite a few shortcomings in terms of both location and design, because such a building must have plenty fresh air and a courtyard garden.
The synagogue itself contains 58 seats for men and 56 for women, and is organized an extraordinary manner. The synagogue is lit by 76 gas lamps, so that the eye can enjoy this sea of light. There are also two new curtains for the ark.
The synagogue was built deliberately larger than necessary for the orphans, and thus the visitors supervising the cleanliness, food and supervision of orphans could stay there and pray three times a day. On the first floor of the building there is a Sucah, located beneath a removable roof. Also, there is a courtyard garden. The cost of a new building with sanitary arrangements is 30 000 guilders.
In 1868 only twelve orphans llived in the orphanage, so the regulations were changed in 1869 . The name was changed into the "Central Orphanage for Jewish Boys in Bavaria (Bayren)", and admitted children from all Jewish communities in the Kingdom of Bavaria . In 1872 twenty-three boys were living the orphanage, and at the end of that school year there were ten new applications, when in fact there were only two available accomodations.
At all times the orphanage was backed by rich donors, and even contributors that left Germany made donations, to ensure that  Kaddish is said in memory of  their parents, and sometimes of  themselves after their own passing. In the  institution's files  appear the names  Moritz Kaufmann from Manchester, the widow Babette Loewensohn, Lazarus Schwarz, and Max Pickert of Nuernberg.

The 1881 annual report tells us that since the establishment of the orphanage at least 1500 boys were educated in it. The forty-eight orphans of that year said Kaddish every day after twenty founders, whose names appeared in lists sorted by months of the year in two cases located near the ark. Only two of these donors – the brothers David and Max Oettinger, were from Fuerth.
On 25.3.1882 the orphanage was granted a status of a "legal entity", as a public social institution, so it could own land and hold financial funds. Until that time, the orphanage's capital was 115,428.28 Mark, which were held by the community members as low-interest loans.

Admission of girls 

According to Jewish law, girls do not say Kaddish, hence, for many years, only boys were admitted to the orphanage. As early as March 1833, the chief Rabbi Oberrabbiner Dr. Loewi (a Reform rabbi) said that the reason for this is outdated customs which originated from Sephardic Jewry, who perceive women as unequal to men.
In 1844, The Henle family, a family of diamond traders with a liberal orientation (the famous anatomist Jakob Henle was a member of that family) , founded a 500 Guilder Fund for poor Jewish girls born in Fuerth, to support their admission into the orphanage, provided that both parents have died. The daughter would remain in the institution until the age of 16.
In 1863 the banker Leopold Koenigswarter (b. 1800 Fuerth, d. 1863 Paris) contributed additional donation of 1,000 guilders and with further contributions, the fund's capital reached 7000 Guilder. Also, the fund owned land valued at 100,000 marks, donated by Leopold Wiesengrund from Wuerzburg, and another 100,000 Marks were donated by the brothers Lazarus and Josef Schwarz of Nuernberg). Thus, admission of girls to the orphanage was made possible by 01/10/1844.
The girls wing was built on the north side of the existing building, replacing  a garden that was there before. This new wing was built according to same model of the original building built in 1868, which contained a basement, a ground floor and three additional floors. On the upper floors were bedrooms, baths and classrooms. Dedication of the building took place on 20.2.1885, and the first girls were admitted that summer. A synagogue was built on the ground floor in the wing and was situated below the level of the road outside, inspired by the verse from Psalms 130 "Out of the depths I cry to you, LORD".
The on the fron of the building it said  "A Jewish Orphanage", and on the right side appeared in Hebrew the verse from Psalms 10 IVX "you are the helper of the fatherless."  Points on some of the letters denoted the numerical value of to 644, being the Jewish year of the building's construction. Later the boys were moved to this wing, and the girls were housed in the old part of the building.

Dr. Koenigshoefer died suddenly on 28.6.1894, being only 54 years old, and was buried in the cemetery on Schlehenstrasse. His widow Lea remained in the house until the replacement was appointed. During World War II the Nazis destroyed the couple's graves by digging a water hole against fires that resulted from the bombing of the city. The damaged gravestones were rebuilt after the war, but no real grave exists.
Dr. Koenigshoefer's successor was Dr. Hermann Deutsch, whose Hebrew name was Shimon Zvi Ben-Yehuda. He was born in Frauenkirchen, Hungary on 27.10.1856. After finishing Yeshiva studies in Hungary, he managed a Jewish religious school in Frankfurt am Main in 1885, before becoming the regional rabbi in the teachers' seminary of Burgpreppach. He later refused an invitation to serve as chief rabbi in Altona, and instead  chose to become director of the Fuerth orphanage in February 1895. His salary was 3500 marks a year, in addition to food and accommodation for himself and his family. At that time there were forty-nine boys and twenty-one girls in the orphanage. Dr. Deutsch, was also the representative of the religious Jewish community of Fuerth, and taught in Jewish real high  school. His pleasant personality and deep understanding of the problems facing the poor, caused all his friends and acquaintances to like and respect him. He insisted that the boys arrive on time for prayers and pray clearly. Children going on holiday to visit their relatives, had to provide upon return a written confirmation that they regularly attended prayers during their absence. Each child had a personal file containing all important information about him since admission.
Regulations changed again on 28.1.1900. Orphans from Fuerth, who lost both their parents, as well as other children at risk to develop mental issues, were to receive special treatment. Admission age was between 7-12 years, but gifted children were given the opportunity to continue to high school after completing elementary school. Girls, who have completed their education at an elementary school, were taught a simple profession and home economy. Children not continuing to high school were to leave the orphanage at the end of the school year in which they have turned 14. Punishments for inappropriate behavior ranged from advertising their actions in public and free time off, reducing freedom, to light corporal punishment as a last measure. Boys and girls were housed in separate rooms.
Under paragraph 24, only a religious Jew with a general education could be appointed director, and he was responsible for all spiritual and moral education and physical health of orphans. The Director determined the education system, and represented the school in all dealings with the educational services of the municipality and the state. Another person was appointed CFO, and like the director he had a key to the safe, in order to ensure that only both of them together can access it.
Starting in the year 1900 the board of trustees consisted of 9 members:
· Feist, Ehrlich – Chairman  
· Nathan Schopflocher – Secretary
· Josef Neuburger – Treasurer
· Moses Rau
· Jacob Cramer
· Siegfried Felsenstein
· Abraham Birnbaum
· Maurice Zimmer
· Sigmund Neuburger

The Orphanage in the Early Twentieth Century 

In 1900 Fuerth was still an important Jewish center for religious Judaism in Germany. Most community members considered themselves, as described by writer Jakob Wassermann, Germans and Jews (in this order). For example: In the new cemetery there is a monument commemorating  the  fifty-eight Jewish soldiers from Fuerth who fell in battle during World War I, for their homeland  Germany. This monument includes the name of one of the orphanage's graduates - Hermann Samuel. Hermann Samuel was born in 1892 in Karbach, brought up in Fuerth orphanage, and later on worked as a trader  for the export company of Zakel David Zimmer , from Friedrichstrasse 17 in Fuerth. 
He served in the 14th Infantry regiment and after a display of courage in battle he was promoted to officer, and decorated with an "Iron Cross" of the first degree. He fell on 27.11.1914 at the French front. 
In 1916, Dr. Deutsch REPORTED that a large number of former students of the orphanage were promoted to officer ranks, and that other were war heroes who served together and fell for their fatherland.
Shortly before the First World War, it was necessary to renovate the orphanage building. Since the orphanage was at the time very high in capital, Dr. Deutsch and the board planned extensive renovations. In 1908 land was bought for another building at the corner of the streets Hirschen and TheresienSTRASSE. The plan was to begin construction in 1911 and finish in 1913, but construction was delayed ALTHOUGH OTTO HOLZER, WHO WAS THE CITY's engineer completed the plan, until 1915, when the cornerstone was finally laid, but because of the war construction was not continued. 
Construction of the new building was made possible when Alfred Nathan, who died in 1922, appointed the orphanage as only heir to his assets. In the will he wrote "the activities of the Jewish orphanage of Fuerth, its prosperity and success are a worthy cause, accompanied with my true and heartiness blessings". Unfortunately, this capital fell victim to the inflation in Germany. The report for the years 1924 to 1927 written by Dr. Deutsch mentions several times that donations and the orphanage's capital were nearly all lost due to the incredible inflation and devaluation of the money. The orphanage found itself in a deficit of 50,000 marks a year. In 1928 the organization of Bavarian Jewish communities began supporting the Fuerth Jewish orphanage, and the new construction plans were canceled. On 1.4.1935 the management of the orphanage sold back the property they have bought from the Fuerth municipality for this building.

Dr. Deutsch,  always wearing  a long black coat, was a famous  personality in the Fuerth. On his 25 year anniversary in office, 5.2.1920 , he was honored with a decoration from the Fuerth municipality and from the orphanage. Josef Oberlaender, a graduate of the orphanage, presented to Dr. Deutch a huge basket of roses and a song. 
After his wife, Fanny Deutsch, died on 29.12.1922, his daughter Recha was appointed an educator in the orphanage, to help her father. Dr. Deutsch retired on 15.7.1929. In gratitude for their contribution to the institution, the management established the "Dr. Herman and Fanny's Deutsch family fund", for supporting orphanage graduates in financial difficulties. The Mayor, Dr. Wild, in the city council meeting, thanked Dr. Deutsch for his excellent service and cooperation with the Fuerth municipality's management, and mentioned his thirty-five years career as a rabbi and author. 
After his retirement, Dr. Deutsch moved to living with his son in Cologne, where he died on 17.2.1932. Four days later he was buried with great honor next to his wife at the new cemetery in Fuerth. Rabinner Behrens (liberal rabbi) eulogized him with the words "what is mankind that you are mindful of them, human beings that you care for them?"(Psalms 8),  Rabbi  Dr. Hannover who was Dr. Deutsch's son-in-law, spoke for the family, Mr. Bechmann spoke on behalf of the community, Chief Rabbi Dr. Freudenthal spoke on behalf of the Jewish Communities Organization of Bavaria, Dr. Hallemann spoke for the management and educators of the orphanage, Leopold Koenig spoke on behalf of the executives, Mr. Morgenthau spoke on behalf of City Council, Dr. Prager spoke on behalf of the Jewish high school, Dr. Bamberger spoke on behalf of the regional rabbinate, Hugo Heinemann spoke on behalf of the organization of Jewish academics in Germany , Director Stoll spoke for the Wuerzburg  teacher seminary. 




Dr. Isaak Hallemann
 
After Dr. Deutsch retired from his job as director, Dr. Isaak Hallemann (full Hebrew name was Yitzhak Moshe Itamar Ben Nathan Abraham), was appointed his replacement. He was born on 18.4.1896 in Drohobyz, Galizien. Some years later, his parents moved to Prussia (Posen), which was then the German part of Poland, where he completed his matriculation exams in Mariengymnasium on 2.3.1916. From April 1916, he attended the Berlin Orthodox rabbinical seminary of Rabbi Azriel Hildesheimer, and in April 1919 he qualified for a  religion studies teaching permit (Judaism). At the same time he also studied philosophy, mathematics and physics. 
Dr. Hallemann taught from October 1917 until April 1919 in the Orthodox school, "Adas Yisrael" in Berlin, and from spring of 1919 until his appointment as director at the Fuerth orphanage, he taught mathematics at the school of high religious studies in Leipzig. On  2.8.1922 he received his Ph.D. for his research called "contribution to philosophical skepticism" 
Dr. Hallemann was a founder of the "Agudath Israel" Association (a Jewish Orthodox organization) in Germany, and was an active member in it. In addition, he gave daily lessons on religious issues. In 1923 he married Clara Mandelbaum from Würzburg, and together they established a Jewish religious home in Leipzig, which soon became the center of a gathering for Jewish scholars. After Clara got her teaching license, she taught in two schools in Wuerzburg. The young couple wanted to convey  to the young generation the ideal of religious and humane life, and considered  teaching a central part of continuing the Jewish religious identity, and as  guaranteeing the education of their children as religious  Jews. 
In July 1929 Dr. Hallemann began his job as director of the Fuerth  orphanage , and his wife was responsible for the institution's household, from buying kosher food to monitoring cleanliness . Thus, the couple felt they have reached the place they aspired. They wanted to turn the "institution" into a home.
In the summer of 1929 the building was thoroughly renovated, in accordance with the plans of the architect Richard Kohler from Fuerth. Dr. Hallemann connected the building's sewage to the municipal network, renovated the boys' showers and sanitary installations, and arranged for new flooring and replaement old heaters and construction of central heating. The wooden floors were covered with linoleum, and the walls were painted in bright colors. He always said that the orphanage is not "a house for the poor", but a familiar home for the children, and therefore replaced the internal furnishings of the dining room - long benches and tables – with new furniture, and new beds. Every child got a closet for personal belongings that could be locked with a key. Also, he designated rooms for the girls and boys in times of illness. In 1929, the orphanage could facilitate the stay of up to forty-eight children, but in reality, only twenty-seven boys and sixteen girls, between the ages of 6-18, occupied the orphanage.
The children's Spiritual education was called by Dr. Hallemann "Torah with Derech Eretz", influenced by Rabbi Samson Raphael Hircsh, the founder of the Jewish neo orthodoxy in Germany. He saw the children – just as Janusz Korczak did –as intellectual human beings, eligible for individual care and promotion. Hence, he ran a Jewish family atmosphere, abolished the uniform and made sure that the children will receive different clothing. Dr. Hallemann banned the use of the term "orphans", and demanded use of the term "children."
Mrs. Hallemann was beyond a mother to the children, she used to go with her husband every night, and visit each  bedroom, to make  sure all children are sleeping  peacefully.

Life in the Orphanage

Ralf, the eldest son of the Hallemanns, was born while they were still in Leipzig. In his memoirs he writes: I was five and a half years old, when we moved to Fuerth. At once our lives have completely changed. My father, and even more so, my mother, suddenly became parents to more than forty children, so they were  always busy. We - the de\irector's family, lived in a separate apartment on the second floor. Usually we would meet  our parents at lunch and dinner, when we joined all the children in the big dining room. There were two kitchens - one dairy and one meaty, conducted in a completely kosher manner by Mrs. Weil, who was an outstanding cook. We always loved her, and she gave her whole heart to children.
The children choose their own seats in the dining room, on light-colored wooden chairs, around tables of four.
The young boys attended the  Jewish elementary school  on Blumenstrasse 31. Those boys who were talented enough, continued their studies at the Jewish high school, which was located behind the elementary school. The orphanage educators would check on the homework given in the previous lesson, and assisted the boys that needed further help with their schooling. The girls attended one of the city's elementary schools.
Daily Agenda was highly organized. Specific times were set for homework, meals, school, sports and handicrafts, according to each child's inclinations, and without pressure. The boys played football in the yard, weather permitting. They were all fans of the Fuerth sports club, which was then one of the best and most famous Jewish sports teams. In addition, the Jewish sports organization of Fuerth,  held  athletic training and volleyball games. There were many Jewish sports organizations, so the Jewish children had very little to do with non-Jews.

The highlights were the Sabbath and holidays. The Holiday of Purim was celebrated with much  joy for the miraculous saving of the Jews from Hamman's  plans to massacre them  . This holiday was the children's favorite, because they were allowed to make noise during reading the Book of Esther, every time Haman's name was mentioned by the reader. On Purim afternoon, a  children's theater presented the affairs of Purim. The children were allowed to dress up in costumes, and do things generally forbidden  during the year . "Haman's Ears"(a special cake) were the most festive food. The younger children got a doll-shaped cake baked with raisin eyes.
In the long winter nights  of Chanukah, the children played with dreidels and peanuts. 
Bella arrived at the orphanage on 14.9.1930. Three years after the death of her mother, her uncle who lived in Fuerth succeeded in having her admitted to the orphanage, where she could get a good education and excellent schooling. 
Bella says that girls had a special connectionn with the educators, amongst them was Mrs.  Henny Bacharach, a very strict educator.  Bella and some other girls wrote, that the highlight of orphanage life was Friday night. All the tables were covered with white maps. Mrs. Hallemann lit the Shabbat candles in a silver candelabra, and then Dr. Hallemann would shake the hand of each of the boys, and would bless them with the customary versus from Numbers VI 24:
"The LORD bless thee, and keep thee: The LORD make his face shine upon thee, and be gracious unto thee:The LORD lift up his countenance upon thee, and give thee peace. "
Mrs. Halleman would greet the girls according to the  Jewish custom of parents blessing their children on Friday night. Then Dr. Hallemann made Kiddush on a glass of wine, and each child could have a "drop" of the wine, and after saying grace on the Chalot the meal began. In order to avoid the table maps from getting too dirty, Mrs. Halleman awarded a prize to  the children that presented at the end of the meal the cleanest tablecloth, this tactic proved very helpful. In between the various courses, the children and educators would sing Shabbat songs together. The children cherished and remembered the festive atmosphere throughout their entire lives.
Many the orphans, returned as adults, to visit the orphanage at every opportunity, especially on holidays, and remembered with joy the times they have  spent in the orphanage.
Elieser Wolf was admitted to the orphanage in 1929 at the age of six, after his father – a  dentist from Gunzenhausen- died, during his  visit in 1990 he said: on the ground floor of the orphanage lived the non-Jewish housekeeper Ludwig Witzl with his wife and son . He used to wake up the children in the morning to ensure they reach the synagogue in time. Prayers lasted about half an hour, and Kaddish was always said for the soul of deceased donors. Every Saturday, one child had to give a lesson on the Parsha (the Torah portion read that week), and those with beautiful voices could join the synagogue's choir.
Judith Ansbacher – Hallemann  (ralf's sister) tells that when one of the boys  had a bar mitzvah, he studied many weeks prior to the occasion how to read the weekly Torah portion properly, by the teacher Mr. Oppenheimer. The entire management of the orphanage joined the celebration that followed the service , a festive meal was served, and of course, the Bar Mitzva boy received presents.

The Orphanage Staff

From 1866 until his passing in 1895 Dr. Koenigshoefer served as both a director and teacher for all religious studies, and of language, writing and history. 
In 1878 Mr. Jagemann was the teacher of bookkeeping and commercial correspondence. 
Mr. Schmeisser worked as a teacher of painting, calligraphy and poetry. 
Wolf Hofmann was secretary of the orphanage thru the 1870s. He was born on 2.6.1842, and died on 9.6.1878. 
Sigmund Mosbacher, was born on 21.10.1841 in Obernburg. From June 1878 until his passing on 4.3.1917 he worked at the orphanage as cantor and teacher of arithmetic, language, geography and science.
 From 1908 until autumn 1909 Mr. Hermann Klugmann taught at the orphanage
Aron Bick from Georgensgmuend taught in the elementary school from 1910 to 1912.
The teacher Leo Schneider taught from 1912 until 1913, when he immigrated to Palestine.
During WWI the only male employee was the manager himself.
The teacher Mr. Oppenheimer was born on 26.4.1896 in Sulzbuerg. He served in the army in the Bavarian 12th infantry battalion. He began working at the orphanage on 14.5.1919 with a salary of 2600 Mark in addition to residence and food, and worked there for twenty years in various positions. He was the director's right hand, managing the office. He was a teacher in both the elementary school and high school, and was the synagogue cantor in the orphanage. In 1939 he immigrated with his family to London.
Jakob Hofmann, like his father before him, was the secretary for many years. He was born on 18.9.1876, and was sent to Auschwitz in WWII.
Gerhard Mauder, born 18.09.1917 in Nuernberg worked from 7.12.1939 until 15.6.1940 as office assistant and assistant teacher. He was sent to the "East" where he was murdered. 
Minna Grünfeld was born on 9.2.1878 in Tauberrettersheim, and as a child was herself an orphan at the orphanage. From 1901 to October 1909 she was in charge of the household and of the girls' education. 
Fanny Deutsch - the manager's wife - has assisted her husband from 1895 until her death in 1922, as an educator for the girls, and by taking responsibility of the household.
Ernestine Deutsch worked at the orphanage from 1906 to 1907. 
Ella Bacharach, born 20.10.1888, came to the orphanage to replace Minna Gruenfeld. Her initial salary was 1000 marks a year plus residence and food. By the time she left her annual salary was 1800. 
After the death of Mrs. Deutsch, her place was filled by her daughter, Recha Deutsch ( born on  24.7.1902) who was a certified teacher, as an educator, and Mrs. Grete Fleischmann assumed the responsibility for the household. 
In 1927 Alice Wallerstein taught in the girls' school and worked at the orphanage. 
Every girl was taken care of by Mrs. Betty Gruenfeld from Heidingsfeld until she got married.  Mrs. Betty Gruenfeld was employed in the orphanage as an educator from 1928 until 1938.
After Dr. Hallemann was appointed director in 1929, Mrs. Clara (Clara Hallemann served as an educator and a housekeeper.  
Educator Henriette "Henny" Bacharach from Marburg came to the orphanage in the 20s. After graduating high school, she learned at the Cologne teachers' seminary, and stayed in the orphanage until her wedding on 15.12.1934. 
Lucie Hahn (born 13.12.1912) was the kindergarten teacher from 21.4.1933 until leaving the orphanage in April 1938. 
Rosi Romann worked as an educator from 16.1.1936 until 16.03.1936. 
Louise Loewentritt was herself an orphan at the orphanage in 1928, then she worked as an apprentice until she left the place in July 1937. 
Liesel Mann (born 4.6.1915 in Heilbronn) worked as an educator in the orphanage from April 1936 to 10.26.1938. She received her working permit from the Mittelfranken Government only after it was confirmed that she wasn’t a member of the Communist Party LOGE. Her monthly salary was 65 marks, and included food and accommodations.
Fanny Adler arrived to the orphanage in the summer of 1939, after graduating the Berlin Jewish school for kindergarten teachers.
Minna Ettlinger probably became an educator in the orphanage only as late as 1940.
It seems that Lina Weil worked - after her husband died – as a cook at the orphanage. 
The educators lived in the building, and practically served as mothers to the orphans, and taught them the Jewish laws. 
In the course of studies, the orphans also went on field trips. For example, they traveled by train to the Nuremberg, took the train to the Alten Veste, or, during  cherry blossom season they went to Cadolzburg, walked to Kronach,  or returned by boat on a water canal. 
++++
The holidays were spent in the building that belonged to the Jewish youth movement "Ezra" in Sulzbuerg.
In the years after 1927 the management of the orphanage consisted of gentlemen: Baruch Zimmer - Merchant, Leopold Koenig Merchant Menki L. Zimmer elected until -31.12.1930, Salomon Wallenreich – Merchant, Ludwig Hutzler - industrialist, Dr. Hugo Peiser – Doctor, elected until 31.12.1933, Max Eliezer - Merchant, Maier Koenigshoefer- Merchant, Eugene Neuberger  - Merchant, appointed until 12/31/1936.
During the school year 1931/32 there were 24 boys and 15 girls in the orphanage. Two of the boys attended the real high school, and 13 boys and one girl attended the Jewish real school, one girl attended the girls school, six children attended the Jewish elementary school, 11 children attended another Jewish school, two girls attended the municipal kindergarten teacher school in Nuremberg, two children have completed their business apprenticeship and one girl continued to the municipal school.
The cost of food and education amounted to 40 RM monthly per child.

The period of Nazi persecution 
After the Nazis came to power in 1933, the Hallemanns tried to protect the children from the growing anti-Semitism, yet the rumors reached them too. Signs like "Jews not welcome", "Entrance forbidden to Jews" and similar, were visible also in Fuerth, and as a result, the young orphans felt hated and threatened. Every passing Jew in the street risked physical harm. Horror rumors such as "Curfew for protection in Dachau" or "killed trying to escape" were known to all, but publishing this was considered hostile propaganda, and those who were charged with advertising it were sent to Dachau. 
Bella Tells: "Gradually, more and more children disappeared, apparently they were sent by relatives to Palestine without us being notified and those of us remaining, we were filled with fear, and it was very hard for the Hellmann family to inspire hope in the hearts of the children. Because of the rising troubles Dr. Hallemann, along with Dr. Ochs – the director of the orphanage of  Dinslaken -  planned in 1936 to relocate the the two institutions to the religious youth village near Haifa, which at the time was under the British mandate in Palestine. But, the board of trustees refused to accept the plan, based on Article 14 of the policy, whereby the institution should forever remain only in the city of Fuerth, , and the funds were not to be used outside of the town, as per the request of the donors. The trusties were "so German" so naive, that we find it hard to understand how these board members could have not realized what could be the result of adhering the rules in this  situation. Just as it is hard to comprehend how a country in Central Europe could have done the things Germany did. Regretfully, some of the trustees of the board were among the victims of the Holocaust.
October 28th 1938 was a Friday. Bella was busy ironing her dress, when Dr. Hallemann called her, Gidel Zimet and Ruth Horowitz to the office, where they were ordered by two members of the Gestapo to go with them, because of their Polish passports, in order to sign something. The girls went without suspecting anything. At the police station they were put in a cell full of people, and then they were taken by truck to Nuernberg. They were then taken, under armed guard to the Nuernberg freight station, and they were sent to the Polish border.  They had no possessions with them, except the cloths they were wearing, and 10 marks that they were given at the railway station. 

Ruth Weis, who was born in Fuerth and later became a South African writer, wrote in her biography that Martha Cohen, the community Secretary, arrived that day from the bank with 3000 marks for the salaries of the community's employees,. When she heard the Polish Jews were to be deported, she went to Nuernberg, found the group at the freight platform, and gave each deportee ten marks. After the war she had to give a notarized declaration that she gave the money to deportees, rather than take it to herself - bureaucracy continued even beyond the final elimination.

In 1994 Ralf Hallemann told about Kristallnacht. On the evening of 9.11 there were already rumors that something will happen, so his father ordered the children to wear warm clothes. The home manager, together with some of the older children spent the night hiding away the Tora scrolls and their silver decorations. In the middle of the night - at about 01:30 AM – a group of S.A men arrived, forcing the 49 children to dress quickly and leave the building, along with the adults. They were taken in the cold November night to the Schlagetta square, where they had to stand for hours silently in the cold, along with other Jews from Fuerth. Throughout the city, the windows of Jewish businesses were shattered, and their shops burned. During all that time, the groups that were standing in the square had to change places time and again, they were sworn at for hours, beaten for no apparent reason, and threatened with machine guns. At 6:00 AM all the Jews were transferred to The biggest public building in Fuerth – the Berolzheimerianum (donated to the city by the Jews) - and at 9:00 the women and children were allowed to return home.

Due to the fact that the homes of many non-Jews were adjacent to the orphanage building, the police did not permit burning the building, but all windows on the ground floor were smashed, and the wall read "We don't let a German to be murdered by Jews!" (Crystal Night took place following the assassination of a senior German diplomat in Paris by a Jewish young refugee).

The synagogue was completely destroyed, benches and desks were broken into pieces, lamps were taken off the ceiling, prayer books were torn and scattered on the floor. The teacher Mr. Oppenheimer was sent together with a group of other men from Fuerth to the Dachau concentration camp, and was detained there for thirty days. 
The next morning, Mrs. Hallemann sent her son to Berolzheimerianum, to bring kosher food to her husband. The guards did not allow the child go in, but gave the food to Dr. Hallemann. Before they released him in the afternoon, they shaved the left side of his beard. Ralf Hallemann remembers the incident clearly, and said that his father returned in a very bad mental condition and never spoke about what happened. His mother - Mrs. Hallemann - told him that if they would deport him, she would join her husband with nothing but a backpack, and go with him to wherever they send him.

Until the outbreak of war, in September 1939, Jewish organizations saved children mainly thru the "Kindertransporte" to England, and thru "Aliyat HaNoar" to Palestine, thus saving thousands of young lives. Dr. Hallemann realized that following Kristallnacht, it is almost impossible to acquire exit permits for all of the children, so he did his best to add individual children to these transports. He even managed to send 14 year old Zimet Lea to her sister Temi in Lyon, France on 6.12.1938. Lea survived the events of the Holocaust, but her sister Gitel did not.

Dr. Hallemann tried to save children even after the war broke. Ruth Strauss (born 14.2.1929, and her brother Ludwig Strauss (born 31.3.1926) from Stuttgart, whose father was particularly interested in religious education for them, arrived at the Fuerth orphanage in September 1939 , from the Esslingen orphanage. Dr. Hallemann registered Ludwig in October 1939 for immigration to Palestine, and gave him a letter in which he testifies to the boy's religious way of life, and confirmed that he had only happy times with him. This attempt failed, and after several months, in March 1940, Dr. Hallemann tried to have him sent to a Yeshiva in Belgium, demanding the Jewish social organization to fund the expenses, but this plan failed too. Ruth returned to Stuttgart in the summer of 1940, and Ludwig left the orphanage in April 1941 to work as an apprentice blacksmith in Stuttgart. At that time they had the possibility to immigrate to the United States, but it did not work out. On 26.4.1942 they were deported to Izbica, and in 1945 they were declared dead. The letters of the children and their mother demonstrate the gratitude they felt to the Hallemann family.

Dr. Hallemann succeeded in March 1939 to send his eldest son, who was 15 at the time, on an "aliyat Hanoar" transport and out of Germany to the land of Israel. Both the parents as their son were fully aware of the possibility they are parting forever, and photographed together before the trip. For Ralf It was a souvenir from parents and sisters and grandparents he left behind, not knowing if they were ever to meet again. He felt lonely and rootless, but he survived and managed to reach the religious Kibbutz in Kfar Saba. Ralf - today he goes by the name Raphael Halmon, worked as an apprentice at an electrical firm. Judith – Ralf's sister - arrived in June 1939 in Israel, and is now living in Petach Tikwa; she is the widow of the late Rabbi Yehuda Ansbacher.

End of the Orphanage Fund, and Deportation
In April 1939, the board of trustees of the orphanage listed the following: 
Leopold Koenig - Chairman, and deputy treasurer
Salomon Wollenreich - Chief Treasurer
Max Frueh – replacing Dr. Hugo Peiser who left the country
Leo Katzenberger
Moritz Klugmann
Heinrich Marx – standing in for Eduard Selig who left the country
David Ichenhaeuser
Menki Zimmer
Jonas Max – standing in for Jona Rosenbaum, who emigrated from Germany.

On 1.10.1939 the responsibility for all Jewish schools in Germany was transferred to the representatives of the Jewish communities in Germany, under the supervision of the state. Under orders from the Gestapo dating 25.10.1939, the Fuerth orphanage was also to be controlled by the representatives of the Jews in Germany, under the supervision of the mayor, and management continued under this supervision, and the orphanage was referred to as "home for children – Fuerth". In addition,the control over all the institution's funds and property, accumulated over the generations by donations and funds established in memory of deceased, reaching about 700 000 mark,  was transferred to repsantatives Jewish communities. Thus, terminating the orphanage's fund 176 years after it was first established.

As of the 1.9.1941, all Jews over the age six were forced to wear the "Star of David" (aka "the Yellow Star"). In addition they were forbidden to leave their apartments without written permission from the police, or wear marks of honor such as the "Iron Cross" for heroism in the war etc. On 27.11.1941 first expulsion transport from Fuerth took place, destination being Riga. Ludwig Willner  - the last cantor of the orphanage, along with his wife Lilli, and their three children Alfred, Judith and Margot, was on this transport. Of the entire family, he alone survived the war, and returned to Fuerth in 1945/46, until he immigrated to America.

Dr. Hallemann decided to stay with the children assigned to him, completely aware of the risks his decision entails for himself, his wife and their two daughters. The deportation of residents of the orphanage is written in the history books of Fuerth: On  21.3.1942 orders were published for  a relatively large transport of Jews under the age of 65, and about 200 Jews were deported. On Sunday at 9:00 am a truck full of people, guarded by the SS, left the police building to Nuernberg.  Later on, 4 more trucks left with the same destination. This deportation also included children, and the orphanage on Julienstrasse was evacuated.
The director Dr. Isaak Hallemann, was planning an evacuation of the orphanage to Palestine, as soon as the anti-Jewish hostility increased, and even managed to get some children out of Germany. He himself had an option to leave for England, but on 22.3.1942, in a display of tremendous inner strength and self-sacrifice, he announced to the SS he will not abandon the children, and demanded that he and his family will go with the orphans. Before the deportation Dr. hallemann gave a non-Jewish neighbor, who lived on the corner of streets Rosen and Julienstrasse, a note written in Hebrew . He asked her to keep it until the return of Jews to Fuerth. The note revealed the location of the hidden Torah scrolls, for the Jews to find upon returning.  According to the files of German compensation paid after the war, the hiding place contained twenty-one Torah scrolls.
Today we know that in addition to Dr. Isaak Hallemann, his wife Clara and daughters Eva, esther and Beate , the following employees and staff of the orphanage were deported that day, and later murdered: educators Fanny Adler  and Minna Ettlinger, the cook Lina Weil, the housekeeper Marie Heller, educator Gerhard Mauder and three employees of the orphanage whose names are not known, along with thirty-three children from which one can identify only the following: Ingeborg Blumenkorn, Lotte Fisch, Max Fisch, Heinz Hammel, Robert Hammel, Josef Hecht, Guenther Norbert Katz, Herbert Kohlmann, Werner Kohlmann, Margot Kraemer, Manfred Lewin, Alfred Loewi, Siegfried Loewi, Walter Siegbert Mannheimer, Gerhard Mauder, Kurt Meth, Ernst Stefan Neuberger, Norbert Neuberger, Siegfried Reis, Rudi Rindsberg, Siegfried Satzmann, Wolfgang Schaefer, Hildegard Stuehler Ingeborg Thormann, Ernst Wiederschein.
In addition to these, others, who have been sent or expelled to other places in Germany or abroad prior to the war, have not survived . Their names are: The orphans Manfred Dingfelder, Dorothea Friedeberg, Tilly Gruenebaum, Minna Gruenfeld (married to Heinemann), Sophie Gruenfeld,  Heintz Gundelfinger, Ruth Gunzenhaeuser, Ruth Horowitz, Siegbert Kahn, Lothar Lemberger, Manfred Levi, Fritz Michels, George Reinthaler, Emil Reis, Walter Reis, Alfred Springer Ruth and Ludwig Strauss, Grete Weinmann, Gidel Zimet. 

Raphael and Judith Halmon received through the Red Cross a  postcard from their aunt in Leipzig,  dated 01/09/1942, with the message that their parents and two sisters "were transferred" to Izbica, where their mother died. 

Fuerth Municipality files from that period state shortly that the building on Julienstrasse 2 is used for dwellings. The "orphan" orphanage was used by the Nazis to house Ukrainian slave laborers, and the synagogue became a warehouse for potatoes.


After 1945

At the end of the war only a few Jews, living in mixed marriages, considered  by the Nazis, "with special rights", survived in Fuerth. To the camp at Am FInkenschlac in Fuerth, established for displaced persons due to persecution, arrived mostly Polish Jews, survivors of the death camps. About forty former Jewish residents of Fuerth returned, usually only in attempt to find relatives, and to get organized for leaving Germany. Jewish cemeteries and public buildings were returned to the Jews, including the building on Julienstrasse 2 (the orphanage), which was temporarily used for housing the surviving refugees. The orphanage never re-established, but the synagogue in the orphanage, the waisenschule - the only one of the seven synagogues in Fuerth to survive – was minimally renovated, and on 9.9.1945, the second day of Rosh Hashanah it was dedicated as the community synagogue.

Summer of 1946 was re-established Jewish community with a detailed U.S. military government license. People are known to the postwar period were: Rabbi David Shapiro Cohen (Rabbi David Spiro HaKohen), who survived the Warsaw ghetto and was accepted religious authority because detailed halakhic rulings. Jan Mendel Halevi (Jean Mandel HaLevi) - First Community president, who until his death in 1974 was also a member of the community center in Bavaria Senator Bavarian parliament.

In memory of the orphans and Dr. Hallemann) and his family, the community placed a memorial table at the entrance of  the orphanage with Hebrew inscription as follows: "in eternal memory, of the day on which the last thirty three orphands together with  Dr. Isaac Hallemann  descended into the valley of death in izbika, Poland. May God avenge their deaths. Let their memory be blessed forever. 07/09/1967. "

